Products & Services

# Troubleshooting Cisco Visual Switch Manager or Cluster Management Suite Access on the Catalyst Fixed Configuration Switches

#### Document ID: 14977

Contents
Introduction
Prerequisites
Requirements
Components Used
Conventions
Web-Based Management
Troubleshoot Web Management
Verify Connectivity to the Switch
Check the Hardware and Software Requirements on Your PC or Workstation
Check the Required Java Plug-in
Check Java Control Panel Settings
Check Browser Settings
Check the Proxy Server Settings
Common Problems and Error Messages
Unable to Connect to the Main Web Page of the Switch
Applet not initialized Error Message is Received
404 Not Found Error Messages are Received
A Blank Screen is Received while Accessing CMS from the Cisco Systems Access
Page
Java is Not Enabled Screen is Seen
Web Interface Keeps Asking Username and Password
Unable to Access CMS After a Software Upgrade
Frequently Asked Questions
Before You Call Cisco Technical Support
Cisco Support Community - Featured Conversations
Related Information

#### Introduction

This document outlines basic troubleshooting of access to the Cisco Visual Switch Manager (VSM) or Cluster Management Suite (CMS) on Catalyst Fixed Configuration switches which include the 2900/3500XL, 2940, 2950/2955, 2970, 3550, 3560, 3750 and the 3750 Metro. This document discusses the suggested actions that need to be performed before you start to troubleshoot the web access problems. This document also lists <u>Common Problems and Error Messages</u> and their solutions.

#### Prerequisites

#### Requirements

Readers of this document should be knowledgeable of these topics:

This document does not explain how to configure the standalone switch or the cluster using VSM or CMS. For that information, use the platform specified documentation located in the Cisco IOS® Software Release:

- Catalyst 3550 Multilayer Switch Release Notes Documentation (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- Catalyst 2900 XL and Catalyst 3500 XL Release Notes Documentation (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 2940 Desktop Switches Release Notes and Documentation</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 2950/2955 Desktop Switch Release Notes Documentation</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 2970 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 3560 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 3750 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)

Screen captures shown in this document involve these versions of browsers and switch models:

- Catalyst 3550-12G switch running Cisco IOS Software Release 12.1(9)EA1.
- Netscape Communicator version 4.73

Microsoft Internet Explorer version 5.5

#### **Components Used**

This document is not restricted to specific software and hardware versions.

The information presented in this document was created from devices in a specific lab environment. All of the devices used in this document started with a cleared (default) configuration. If you are working in a live network, ensure that you understand the potential impact of any command before using it.

#### Conventions

For more information on document conventions, refer to the <u>Cisco Technical Tips Conventions</u>.

#### Web-Based Management

The Catalyst Fixed Configuration Switches series switches can be managed by using any one of these methods:

- · Graphical User Interface (GUI) that uses a browser such as Netscape or Internet Explorer
- Command Line Interface (CLI)
- Simple Network Management Protocol (SNMP)

GUI uses an HTML-based (Web-Based) interface to configure and monitor the Catalyst 2900XL/3500XL, 2940, 2950, 3550, 3560, 3750, and 3750 metro series switches. If the switches grouped in a cluster need to be managed through a web interface, the management interface is the CMS. For standalone switches, the web interface used is the VSM.

All the features of the CMS are based on an HTTP web server. It resides in the switch's Flash memory. The command needed on the switch to enable that server is **ip http server**. This enables access to the HTML pages that reside in the switch.

**Note:** A cluster is a group of connected switches that are managed as a single entity. For details on clustering technology, refer to these documents:

- Catalyst 3550 Multilayer Switch Release Notes Documentation (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- Catalyst 2900 XL and Catalyst 3500 XL Release Notes Documentation (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 2940 Desktop Switches Release Notes and Documentation</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 2950/2955 Desktop Switch Release Notes Documentation</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 2970 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 3560 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 3750 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)

#### **Troubleshoot Web Management**

This section discusses the suggested steps that need to be performed when you troubleshoot VSM or CMS access.

#### Verify Connectivity to the Switch

If you have problems accessing the web interface of the switch, check whether or not you have connectivity to the switch. This involves checking physical and IP connectivity to the switch.

Web-Based management uses In-Band management. This means that the switch is accessed through one of its Ethernet ports. Make sure that the port through which you access the switch is up and is not disabled.

- To verify the physical connectivity, check the port LED to see if there is a link light on the port. For details on port mode and port status LED status, refer to these documents:
  - Catalyst 3550 Multilayer Switch Release Notes Documentation (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)

- Catalyst 2900 XL and Catalyst 3500 XL Release Notes Documentation (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 2940 Desktop Switches Release Notes and Documentation</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 2950/2955 Desktop Switch Release Notes Documentation</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 2970 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 3560 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 3750 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)

The other way to check physical connectivity is to issue the **show interface** <*mod/port* #> command with the help of the CLI. For example, if you access the switch using the FastEthernet port (0/1), then you should see this output when you issue the command:

switch# show interface fastEthernet 0/1
FastEthernet0/1 is up, line protocol is up
... (output Suppressed)

2. Use ping or Telnet to check the IP connectivity to the switch. If you do not have IP connectivity to the switch, troubleshoot the problem and make sure that you have the IP connectivity to the switch.

For details on how to get basic connectivity to the switch, refer to the <u>Getting Basic IP Connectivity to the</u> <u>Switch</u> section of <u>Upgrading Software in Catalyst 2900 XL/3500 XL Switches</u>.

#### Check the Hardware and Software Requirements on Your PC or Workstation

Check whether your workstation or PC has the required hardware and software to use the VSM or CMS. This includes the processor speed, amount of memory (DRAM), operating system, and the browser versions.

Make sure that your PC or workstation satisfies these hardware and software requirements:

#### Minimum Hardware

Operating System	Processor Model and Speed	Amount of Memory (DRAM)
PC	Pentium Processor with 233 MHz	64 MB
Unix WorkStation	Sun Ultra 1 with 143 MHz	64 MB

# **Recommended Hardware**

Operating System	Processor Model and Speed	Amount of Memory (DRAM)	Number of Colors	Resolution	Font Size
Windows NT 4.0 <sup>1</sup>	Pentium Processor with 300 MHz	128 MB	65,536	1024 x 768	Small
Solaris 2.5.1	SPARC with 333 MHz	128 MB	Most colors for applications		Small (3)

<sup>1</sup> Service Pack 1 or later is required for Internet Explorer 5.5.

# Supported Operating Systems and Browsers

Operating System	Minimum Service Pack or Patch	Netscape Communicator	Microsoft Internet Explorer <sup>2</sup>
Windows 95	Service Pack 1	4.61, 4.7x	4.01a, 5.0, 5.5
Windows			4.01a, 5.0,

98	Second Edition	4.61, 4.7x	5.5
Windows NT 4.0	Service Pack 3 or later	4.61, 4.7x	4.01a, 5.0, 5.5
Windows 2000*	None	4.61, 4.7x	4.01a, 5.0, 5.5
Solaris 2.5.1 or later	Sun- recommended patch cluster for the OS and Motif library patch 103461-24.	4.61, 4.7x	Not Supported

<sup>1</sup> Netscape Communicator versions 4.60 and 6.0 are not supported.

<sup>2</sup> Service Pack 1 or later is required for Internet Explorer 5.5.

\* Supported on Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5.x)WC1 or later.

#### Check the Required Java Plug-in

If you run Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5.x)XU or later, a Java Plug-in is required to access the VSM and CMS. The Plug-in replaces the built in Java Virtual Machine (JVM) in each browser to ensure that Java behavior is consistent on any browser.

Note: To check the version of software that the switch runs , issue the **show version** command, as shown in this example:

```
Switch> show version
```

```
Cisco Internetwork Operating System Software
IOS (tm) C3550 Software (C3550-I5Q3L2-M), Version 12.1(9)EA1, RELEASE SOFTWARE
Copyright (c) 1986-2002 by cisco Systems, Inc.
Compiled Wed 24-Apr-02 06:35 by antonino
. ... (output Suppressed)
```

If you start CMS without having installed the required Java Plug-in, the switch automatically detects this. If you use a supported Internet Explorer browser, it automatically downloads and installs the Plug-in. If you use a supported Netscape browser, the browser displays a Cisco.com (previously Cisco Connection Online [CCO]) page that contains the Java Plug-in and installation instructions. If you use Windows 2000, it is possible that Netscape Communicator will not detect the missing Java Plug-in. You can download the Plug-in from the Java Plug-ins Software Download Page (registered customers only).

**Note:** Support for Java Plug-in 1.3.1 was introduced in the Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)WC3 for Catalyst 2900 XL/3500 XL, Cisco IOS Software Release 12.1(6)EA2 for Catalyst 2950, and Cisco IOS Software Release 12.1(8)EA1 for Catalyst 3550 series switches. If you run an earlier version of the software, Cisco recommends that you refer to these release notes:

- Catalyst 3550 Multilayer Switch Release Notes Documentation
- <u>Catalyst 2900 XL and Catalyst 3500 XL Release Notes Documentation</u>
- <u>Catalyst 2940 Desktop Switches Release Notes and Documentation</u>
- <u>Catalyst 2950/2955 Desktop Switch Release Notes Documentation</u>
- <u>Catalyst 2970 Series Switches Release Notes</u>
- <u>Catalyst 3560 Series Switches Release Notes</u>
- <u>Catalyst 3750 Series Switches Release Notes</u>

Note: To avoid performance and compatibility issues, do not use Java Plug-ins later than Java Plug-in 1.3.1.

Cisco recommends that you uninstall the older version of the Plug-in, reboot the system, and then install the latest version. If you install different versions of Java Plug-in software on the same machine, it can result in one version being overwritten. The older Plug-in can be removed by selecting **Start > Settings > Control Panel > Add/Remove Programs**.

#### **Check Java Control Panel Settings**

Once you have downloaded and installed the required Plug-in, confirm the settings for the Plug-in by performing these steps:

Java Plug-in Version 1.2.2 Settings

To bring up and check the Java control panel, perform these steps:

1. Select Start > Programs > Java Plug-in Control Panel to bring up the Java ™ Plug-in Properties window:

👹 Java	a(TM) Plug-i	n Properti	es		_ 🗆 ×
Basic	Advanced	Proxies	Certificates		
			🗹 Enabl	e Java Plug-in	
			✓ Show	Java Console	
			🗹 Cache	e JARs in memo	ny
Mature			ānulot l	loot	
Netwol	rk access		Abbier	1051	
Java R	un Time Par	ameters			
		App	ly Rese	t	

2. Make sure that the Enable Java Plug-in, Show Java Console, and Cache JARs in memory check boxes are selected. If they are not, select those boxes and click Apply.

#### Java Plug-in Version 1.3.0 Settings

If you run this version of the Plug-in, the Java control panel is in the Windows control panel:

- 1. Select Start > Settings and click Control Panel.
- In the Control Panel window, double click on the Java Plug-in icon. This brings up the Java <sup>™</sup> Plug-in Properties window:

👹 Java(TM) Plug-in Properties 📃 🗖				
Basic	Advanced	Proxies	Certificates	About
Ĩ				
		🗹 Ei	nable Java Plu	ıg-in
		⊮ SI	how Java Con	sole
		⊮ Ca	ache JARs in i	memory
		Java Ru	n Time Param	eters
		App	ly Rese	t

3. Make sure that the **Enable Java Plug-in**, **Show Java Console**, and **Cache JARs in memory** check boxes are selected. If not, then select those boxes and click **Apply**.

## Java Console

The Java Plug-in comes with a utility called Java console. This is different from the Java console that comes with the Netscape or Internet Explorer browsers. The output from this Java console is very helpful during troubleshooting. The Java console is a pop-up window that is opened automatically when you try to access the VSM or CMS link on the <u>main web page</u> of the switch.

To launch the Java console, perform these steps:

1. By default, Java console is disabled. To enable Java console, follow the steps mentioned in the Check

Java Control Panel Settings section of this document.

- 2. Close all the instances of your browser.
- 3. Reopen the browser (Netscape or Internet Explorer).
- Point your browser to the switch by typing http://x.x.x.x in your browser window, where "x.x.x.x" is the IP address of the switch. This takes you to the main web page of the switch.
- 5. Click on the VSM or CMS link on the page.
- 6. As soon as you click on the link, you see the VSM or CMS page for a brief moment:



7. After the VSM or CMS page appears, the browser tries to load the Java Applet. At the same time, the Java console appears on the screen:



Note: You see only the Java console if you run Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)XU or later.

# **Check Browser Settings**

It is also important to check the settings of your browser. This section describes the browser settings that you need to check while you troubleshoot .

**Note:** All the screen captures shown in these sections are taken from Netscape Communicator (4.73) or Internet Explorer (5.5). You can see different screens based on the version of the browser that you use .

#### Netscape Communicator (4.7x) Settings:

Perform these steps for Netscape Communicator (4.7x) settings:

- 1. Start Netscape Communicator.
- 2. From the menu bar, select Edit > Preferences.
- 3. In the Preferences window, click Advanced.
- 4. Make sure that the **Enable Java**, **Enable JavaScript**, and **Enable style sheets** check boxes are selected. If not, then select those boxes. The settings of the Preferences window looks like this:

Category:	
- Appearance - Fonts	Advanced Change preferences that affect the entire product
Colors     Navigator	Automatically load images
- Languages	I Enable Java
- Applications - Smart Browsing	F Enable JavaScript
Mail & Newsgroups	Enable JavaScript for Mail and News
Boarning Access	Enable style sheets
Composer     Offline     Advanced	Send gmail address as anonymous FTP password
	Cookies
	C Accept all cookies
	Accept only cookies that get sent back to the originating server
	C Disable cookies
	☐ Warn me before accepting a cookie
	OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp

5. In the same Preferences window, click Advanced > Cache. Make sure that Every time is selected:



6. Click **OK** to return to the browser home page.

**Note:** If you have made any changes in the Netscape settings, then it is advisable to close all instances of the browser and reopen them.

# Microsoft Internet Explorer (5.5) Settings:

Perform these steps for Microsoft Internet Explorer (5.5) settings:

- 1. Start Internet Explorer.
- 2. From the menu bar, select **Tools > Internet Options**.
- 3. In the Internet Options window, click the Advanced tab.

Scroll through the list of options until you see Microsoft VM. Make sure that the **Java logging enabled** and **JIT compiler for virtual machine enabled** check boxes are selected. If not, then select those boxes and click **Apply**:



4. In the Internet Options window, click the General tab. You see this screen:

Internet Options ? 🗙
General Security Content Connections Programs Advanced
Home page
Address: http://www.cisco.com/
Use <u>C</u> urrent Use <u>D</u> efault Use <u>B</u> lank
Temporary Internet files
Pages you view on the Internet are stored in a special folder for quick viewing later.
Delete <u>Fi</u> les <u>S</u> ettings
History
The History folder contains links to pages you've visited, for quick access to recently viewed pages.
Days to keep pages in history: 1 Clear History
Colors Fonts Languages Accessibility
OK Cancel Apply

- In the Temporary Internet Files section, click Settings. This window appears. In this window, make sure that Every visit to the page is selected. If not, then make the selection and then click Apply:
- 6. In the Internet Options window, click the Security tab:



a. Select the Trusted Sites icon and click Sites. You see this screen:

Internet Options
Trusted sites
You can add and remove Web sites from this zone. All Web sites in this zone will use the zone's security settings.
Add this Web site to the zone:
Add
Web sites:
http://10.10.10.2
Require server veningation (nups.) for all sites in this zone
OK Cancel
<u>C</u> ustom Level <u>D</u> efault Level
OK Cancel Apply

- b. Make sure that the Require server verification check box is not selected.
- c. Make sure that the switch URLs that you want to manage are in the Web sites portion. If not, then add those URLs in the Add this web site to the zone field. Click the Add button to add each switch. The URL of the switch is the switch's IP address, preceded byhttp://.

**Note:** If you want to manage the cluster of switches, then add the IP address of the command switch. If the cluster has Hot Standby Router Protocol (HSRP) enabled, then enter the virtual address of the cluster. If you want to manage each switch separately using VSM, then add the IP address of every switch that you want to manage. For details on clustering, refer to these documents:

- Catalyst 3550 Multilayer Switch Release Notes Documentation (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- Catalyst 2900 XL and Catalyst 3500 XL Release Notes Documentation (The "Clustering Switches"

section of the Software Configuration Guide.)

- <u>Catalyst 2940 Desktop Switches Release Notes and Documentation</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 2950/2955 Desktop Switch Release Notes Documentation</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 2970 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 3560 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- <u>Catalyst 3750 Series Switches Release Notes</u> (The "Clustering Switches" section of the Software Configuration Guide.)
- After you have finished checking and entering the URLs for your switches, click OK to return to the Security tab of the Internet Options window:

Internet Options	x
General Security Content Connections Programs Advanced	
Select a Web content zone to specify its security settings.	
🗌 🐼 📇 🕥 😑	
Internet Local intranet Trusted sites Restricted sites	
Trusted sites This zone contains Web sites that you trust not to damage your computer or data.	
Security level for this zone	1
<b>Custom</b> Custom settings. • To change the settings, click Custom Level. • To use the recommended settings, click Default Level.	
<u>C</u> ustom Level <u>D</u> efault Level	
OK Cancel Apply	

- 7. In the Security tab of Internet Options window, click Custom Level. The Security Settings window appears.
  - a. Verify that these ActiveX controls and plug-ins are set to either Prompt or Enable:
    - Download signed ActiveX controls
    - Download unsigned ActiveX controls as safe
    - Initialize and script ActiveX controls not marked
    - Run ActiveX controls and plug-ins

Security Settings
Settings:
Reset custom settings Beset to: Modium Reset Java Custom Settings OK Cancel

b. In the Security Settings window, scroll to the Microsoft VM > Java permissions section. Make sure that Custom is selected and that you see the Java Custom Settings button:

Internet Options	? ×
Security Settings	
Settings:	
<ul> <li>Microsoft VM</li> <li>Java permissions</li> <li>Usstom</li> <li>Disable Java</li> <li>High safety</li> <li>Low safety</li> <li>Medium safety</li> <li>Miscellaneous</li> <li>Access data sources across domains</li> </ul>	
Disable     Disable     Denable     Prompt     Don't prompt for client certificate selection when no certii	
Reset custom settings	
Reset to: Low Reset	- 1
Java Custom Settings OK Cancel	
	AA

Note: If you do not see this section, you need to reinstall the browser. Follow the instructions mentioned earlier in this section to configure the browser.

c. Click Java Custom Settings. You see this screen:



- d. Make sure that Full Permission is selected under the Permission Given to Unsigned Content category. If not, issue Step 7 to change it.
- 8. In the same Trusted Sites window, click the Edit Permissions tab.
  - a. Under Run Unsigned Content, select Enable:



- b. Click OK.
- 9. In the Security Settings window, click OK.
- 10. In the Internet Options window, click OK.

Note: If you have made any changes in the Internet Explorer settings, then it is advisable to close all instances of the browser and then reopen it.

If you want to verify the configuration on the older supported versions of Internet Explorer, refer to these documents:

Note: Use your browser's find feature to locate these sections.

 Configuring Microsoft Internet Explorer 4.01 and Configuring Microsoft Internet Explorer 5.0 sections of <u>Using the Management Interfaces</u>.

#### **Check the Proxy Server Settings**

If you have a Proxy Server configured on your web browser, you may have trouble in connecting to the VSM or CMS. Perform these steps to check the Proxy settings on your browser:

#### Netscape Communicator (4.7x) Proxy Settings:

Perform these steps for Netscape Communicator (4.7x) Proxy settings:

- 1. Open the browser.
- 2. From the browser menu bar, select Edit > Preferences.
- 3. In the Preferences window, click Advanced. Select Proxies:



- 4. Under Proxies, select the Direct connection to the Internet option.
- 5. Click OK to go back to the browser window.

## Internet Explorer (5.5) Proxy Settings:

Perform these steps for Internet Explorer (5.5) Proxy settings:

- 1. Open the browser.
- 2. From the menu bar, select Tools > Internet Option. The Internet Options window appears:

Internet Options	×
General Security Content Connections Programs Advanced	
Home page	
You can change which page to use for your home page. Address: http://www.cisco.com/	
Use <u>C</u> urrent Use <u>D</u> efault Use <u>B</u> lank	
Temporary Internet files	
Pages you view on the Internet are stored in a special folder for quick viewing later.	
Delete <u>Fi</u> les	
History	L
The History folder contains links to pages you've visited, for quick access to recently viewed pages.	
Days to keep pages in history:	
Colors Fonts Languages Accessibility	
OK Cancel Apply	

3. In the Internet Options window, click the **Connections** tab. You see this window:

Internet Options
General Security Content Connections Programs Advanced
Use the Internet Connection Wizard to Connect your computer to the Internet.
Dial-up settings
Cisco Amsterdam Add Cisco Bangkok Cisco Beijing (Local) Cisco Beijing (Toll Free) Cisco Brisbane I
Never dial a <u>connection</u> Dial <u>whenever</u> a network connection is not present     Always dial my default connection
Current default: None Set Default
Perform system security check before dialing
Local Area Network (LAN) settings
OK Cancel Apply

4. Click the LAN Settings tab, located in the lower right corner of the above window. The LAN settings window appears:

Local Area Network (LAN) Settings	? ×		
- Automatic configuration			
Automatic configuration may override manual settings. To ensure the use of manual settings, disable automatic configuration.			
Automatically detect settings			
Use automatic configuration script			
Address			
Proxy server			
Use a pro <u>x</u> y server			
Address: Port: Adva	mged		
Bypass proxy server for local addresses			
OK	Cancel		

- 5. Under the Proxy Server section, de-select the Use a Proxy Server check box.
- 6. Click OK to go back to the Internet Options window.
- 7. Click OK on the Internet Options window.

Note: If you do not want to disable the Proxy Server settings on the browser that you use, then download another vendor's browser and use that to access the VSM or CMS. For example, if you usually use Netscape and you have problems in accessing the VSM by following the steps listed in the <u>Checking the Proxy Server Settings</u> section of this document. With additional investigation, you can possibly find that the browser uses a Proxy Server. If this is the case, download Internet Explorer and use that without the Proxy Server to perform the web management of the switch.

#### **Common Problems and Error Messages**

This section lists the most common problems that you can see while managing the switch through the web interface. Make sure that you have read through the previous sections of this document and that you have the appropriate settings before you begin to troubleshoot these problems.

#### Unable to Connect to the Main Web Page of the Switch

When you try to access the switch using the web, you can get an error message instead . If you use Netscape, you see this error message:

Netscap	e 🛛 🕅
	There was no response. The server could be down or is not responding.
	If you are unable to connect again later, contact the server's administrator.
	[]

When you use Internet Explorer, you see this error message:



The most common reasons for why you see these error messages are:

- No IP connectivity to the switch.
- Access to the switch HTML pages are disabled.
- The switch is configured to use a non-default port (other than port 80) for HTTP access.

#### Solution

Perform these steps:

- 1. Verify IP connectivity to the switch. If you have IP connectivity to the switch, go to step 2.
- Access the CLI by starting a Telnet session to the switch or by connecting to the switch console port through the RS-232 connector. For details on how to connect to the switch using console port, refer to the Accessing the Switch Using Console Port section of Upgrading Software in Catalyst 2900 XL/3500 XL Switches Using the Command Line Interface (CLI).
- 3. Enter the privileged EXEC mode by typing enable at the switch> prompt:

switch> enable
switch#

 Check the configuration file by issuing the show running-config command. Make sure that you do not see any of these lines in the configuration:

no ip http server
ip http port <port #>

Here "port #" is a value other than 80.

If you see either or both of these lines, issue steps 5 through 8 to make the configuration changes.

**Note:** Cisco recommends not to issue the **ip http port** *port +>* command to change the default value
for the port when you use VSM for web management. VSM requires port 80 to be open to operate. By
default, port 80 is open.

5. Enter global configuration mode:

```
switch# config terminal
Enter configuration commands, one per line.End with CNTL/Z.
```

switch(config)#

 If you see no ip http server in the configuration file as mentioned in step 4, enable access to the switch HTML pages by issuing these commands:

switch(config)# IP http server

7. Type **end** to go back to the privileged EXEC mode. Save the configuration with the **write memory** command:

```
Switch(config)#endSwitch#
Switch#write memory
Building configuration...
[OK]
```

 If you see the line ip http port <port#>, where port# is a number other than 80, you must include the new port number when you enter the IP address into the browser location or address field (for example 10.1.126.45:184, where 184 is the new HTTP port number).

#### Applet not initialized Error Message is Received

If the Plug-In is installed but the Java applet does not initialize, perform these steps:

- 1. Select **Start > Java Plug-in Control Panel**. In the Proxies tab, verify that the browser settings is checked and that no proxies are enabled.
- 2. Make sure that the port that connects the PC to the switch belongs to the same VLAN as the management VLAN.

#### 404 Not Found Error Messages are Received

When you try to access the switch with the help of a web browser, the initial page that you see is the switch's main web page. Based on the software version that the switch runs , you can see this screen:

# **Cisco Systems**

Accessing Cisco WS-C3524-XL "switch"

Cluster Management Suite or Visual Switch Manager

Telnet - To the Switch.

<u>Show interfaces</u> - Display the status of the interfaces. <u>Show diagnostic log</u> - Display the diagnostic log. <u>Web Console</u> - HTML access to the command line interface at level 0,1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10,11,12,13,14,15

Show tech-support - Display information commonly needed by tech support.

#### Help resources

- 1. CCO at www.cisco.com Cisco Connection Online, including the Technical Assistance Center (TAC).
- 2. tac@cisco.com e-mail the TAC.
- 3. 1-800-553-2447 or +1-408-526-7209 phone the TAC.
- 4. <u>cs-html@cisco.com</u> e-mail the HTML interface development group.

At this point, if you try to access the VSM or CMS and get **404 Not Found** error messages, it means that the HTML directory on the switch misses either some or all of the files. One of the directories on the XL and 2950 series switches is the HTML directory. This contains all of the HTML and GIF files used for the web interface. For further details on the type of files and directories that are found on XL and 2950 series switches, refer to the <u>Catalyst 2900 XL, 3500 XL, and 2950 Series</u> sections of <u>Upgrading Software Images and Working with Configuration Files on Catalyst Switches</u>.

#### Solution

The solution is to download the HTML files to the switch using Trivial File Transfer Protocol (TFTP). For details on which files to use and how to download the image files on the XL series switches, refer to the "Upgrading the Switch Software" section of these notes:

- Catalyst 3550 Multilayer Switch Release Notes Documentation
- Catalyst 2900 XL and Catalyst 3500 XL Release Notes Documentation
- <u>Catalyst 2940 Desktop Switches Release Notes and Documentation</u>
- <u>Catalyst 2950/2955 Desktop Switch Release Notes Documentation</u>
- Catalyst 2970 Series Switches Release Notes
- <u>Catalyst 3560 Series Switches Release Notes</u>
- <u>Catalyst 3750 Series Switches Release Notes</u>

#### A Blank Screen is Received while Accessing CMS from the Cisco Systems Access Page

This problem can occur when you try to access the CMS link on the switch's <u>main web page</u>. When you try to load the basiccfg.htm page, a blank screen appears. This problem mainly occurs due to these reasons:

Problem: If you run Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5) XU or later, you may not have the required Java Plugin to access CMS.

**Solution:** Access the CLI by starting a Telnet session to the switch or by connecting to the switch console port through the RS-232 connector. For details on how to connect to the switch using the console port, refer to the <u>Accessing the Switch Using Console Port</u> section of <u>Upgrading Software in Catalyst 2900 XL/3500 XL Switches</u> Using the Command Line Interface (CLI).

Issue the **show version** command to check what software version the switch runs , as shown in this example:

Switch>show version Cisco Internetwork Operating System Software IOS (tm) C3550 Software (C3550-I5Q3L2-M), Version 12.1(9)EA1, RELEASE SOFTWARE (fc1) Copyright (c) 1986-2002 by cisco Systems, Inc. Compiled Wed 24-Apr-02 06:35 by antonino Image text-base: 0x00003000, data-base: 0x006848F4 ...(output suppressed)

If the software version is Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)XU or later, proceed to the next solution. Otherwise, upgrade your software version.

Problem: Browser settings are not correct.

**Solution:** Make sure that your browser settings are correct. To check your browser settings, see the <u>Browser</u> <u>Settings</u> section of this document. Make sure that you have the required Java Plug-in installed on your PC or workstation. For details, see the <u>Checking the Required Java Plug-in</u> section of this document. If this does not solve the problem, then proceed to the next solution.

Problem: Proxy Server is enabled on your browser.

**Solution:** Check the Proxy Server settings on your browser. If you find out that the browser has Proxy Server enabled, disable or remove the Proxy Server settings. For details, see the <u>Proxy Settings</u> section.

Note: If you run Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)XU or later and <u>Java console</u> is enabled, the Java console indicates that there is a Proxy Server configured on your browser. You see an output similar to this output on the console:

🧱 Java Console	_ 🗆 ×
Java(TM) Plug-in: Version 1.2.2.p005	
Using JRE version 1.2.2	
User home directory = C:\WINDOWS\Profiles\uk850232	
Proxy Configuration: Manual Configuration	
Proxy: proxy:uk.com:8080 Proxy: Overrides: *.rscomp.com,*.ecomp.com,*rswww.com,document	s.rs-cor
	-1
	•
Clear Close	

#### Java is Not Enabled Screen is Seen

This problem occurs when you run Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)XU or later and try to access the VSM or CMS link on the switch's <u>main web page</u>. For a split second, you see the VSM screen. When the switch tries to load the basiccfg.htm page, this gray screen with the message Java is not enabled appears:

Java is not enabled	

This problem occurs due to these reasons:

- Browser settings are not correct.
- Java Plug-in is installed. However, it is not enabled (only applicable to Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0 (5)XU or later).

# Solution

Step 1 Check your browser settings. For details, see the Browser Settings section of this document.

Step 2 If you run Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)XU or later, and have the required Plug-in installed, then verify the proper settings of the Java Plug-in. For details, see the <u>Java Control Panel Settings</u> section of this

document.

# Web Interface Keeps Asking Username and Password

When you try to access the switch through the web, you can possibly see these password screens pop-up.

# For Netscape:

Username and Password Required			
Enter usernan	ne for level 15 access at 10.10.10.2:		
User Name:	test		
Password:	****		
	OK Cancel		

# For Internet Explorer:

Enter Net	twork Password		
<b>?</b> >	Please type your user name and password.		
IJ	Site:	10.10.10.2	
	Realm	level 15 access	
	<u>U</u> ser Name	test	
	Password	****	
	Save this	password in your password list	
		OK Canc	el

If you run Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)XU or later with the Java Plug-in installed, you see these screens when you try to access the VSM or CMS link on the switch's main web page:

👹 Username and Password Required 🛛 🛛 🗙			
Auther	ntication required for level 15 access at 10.10.10.2:80.		
User Na	me: test		
Passwo	rd: ****		
	OK Cancel		
Warning: A	Applet Window		
Ente	r Network Password		
2	Please type your username and password.		
	Resource: level 15 access		
	UserName: test		
	Password:		
	OK Cancel		

A common problem is that the web interface keeps asking for the username and password. This problem occurs due to these reasons:

Problem: You use the wrong username and enable password to login to the Web Interface.

Solution: Use the enable password of the switch as the username and password. In the example above, the enable password for the switch was set to **test**.

Problem: You use an un-supported version of the Java Plug-in.

**Solution:** Make sure that you use a supported version of the Java Plug-in. To verify that you use the correct Java Plug-in version, see the <u>Check the Required Java Plug-in</u> section of this document.

**Problem:** You use Java Plug-in version 1.3.0\_01 or later, and run Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)WC2 or earlier on your switch.

**Solution:** If you use Java Plug-in version 1.3.0\_01 or later, and run Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)WC2 or earlier on your switch, perform these steps:

- Upgrade your Catalyst 2900 XL/3500 XL switches to Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)WC3 (or later), or downgrade your Java Plug-in to 1.3.0. For the Java Plug-in, see the <u>Checking the Required Java Plug-in</u> section of this document. To upgrade your XL series switch, refer to <u>Upgrading Software in Catalyst</u> 2900 XL/3500 XL Switches Using the Command Line Interface (CLI).
- Upgrade your Catalyst 2950 switches to Cisco IOS Software Release 12.1(6)EA2 (or later), or downgrade your Java Plug-in to 1.3.0. For the Java Plug-in, see the <u>Checking the Required Java Plug-in</u> section of this document. To upgrade your Catalyst 2950 switch, refer to <u>Upgrading the Switch Software</u>.
- Refer to these Cisco bug IDs for the details about this issue:
  - o Catalyst 2950: Cisco bug ID CSCdv87572 (registered customers only)
  - o Catalyst 2900 XL: Cisco bug ID CSCdv87375 (registered customers only)
  - o Catalyst 3500 XL: Cisco bug ID <u>CSCdv87542</u> (registered customers only)

#### Unable to Access CMS After a Software Upgrade

It is possible that the upgraded image file did not completely finish. Another reason can be that only a \*.bin file or \*.html file could have been downloaded. It is best to download a combined .tar file that contains both the Cisco IOS image file and the HTML files. Download the image again.

Update or upgrade the switch by performing these steps:

- 1. If you upgrade the 2900 XL switch, verify the memory capacity. The output of the **show version** command determines if you have a switch that can be upgraded to the higher version.
- 2. In addition to the HTML files for the VSM, you also need to upgrade the Cisco IOS image.
- 3. Perform these steps for an upgrade indicated in these release notes:
  - To upgrade your Catalyst 3550 switches, refer to the Upgrading a Switch section of Catalyst 3550 Multilayer Switch Release Notes Documentation.
  - To upgrade your Catalyst 2950/2955 switch, refer to the Upgrading the Switch Software section of Catalyst 2950/2955 Desktop Switch Release Notes Documentation.
  - To upgrade your XL series switch, refer to the Upgrading Software section of Catalyst 2900 XL and Catalyst 3500 XL Release Notes Documentation.
  - To upgrade your Catalyst 2940 switch, refer to the Upgrading the Switch Software section of Catalyst 2940 Desktop Switches Release Notes and Documentation.
  - To upgrade your Catalyst 2970 switch, refer to the Upgrading the Switch Software section of Catalyst 2970 Series Switches Release Notes.
  - To upgrade your Catalyst 3560 switch, refer to the Upgrading the Switch Software section of Catalyst 3560 Series Switches Release Notes.
  - To upgrade your Catalyst 3750 switch, refer to the Upgrading the Switch Software section of Catalyst 3750 Series Switches Release Notes.

The steps should be followed exactly to ensure that the upgrade completes successfully.

#### **Frequently Asked Questions**

#### Q: The "Applet notinited" message appears at the bottom of my browser window. What does that mean?

A: You might not have enough disk space. Each time you start CMS, the Java Plug-in saves a copy of all the .jar files to the disk. Delete the .jar files (they can be called something similar to jar\_cache27485.tmp) from the location where the browser keeps the temporary files on your computer, or go to Control Panel > Java Plug-In > Cache > Clear Jar Cache to clear the Plug-in cache.

#### Q: Why is the Java Plug-in required to access CMS?

A: The Java Plug-in is chosen for its stability and ease of use when it comes to providing updates for customers as well as taking up minimal disk space. The Plug-in installation is a one-time effort on the system from which the cluster is managed. It can be seamlessly installed in the Windows environment for both Netscape and Internet Explorer browsers. In turn, this makes the program reliable and allows for more enhancements for the customers.

#### Q: Do you have any plans to officially support the Java Plug-in for Linux or Mac OS?

A: The current CMS/VSM that comes embedded within switches has only been tested with Windows 9x/NT and Solaris versions of Java Plug-ins. When you select operating systems to support, select the latest operating systems. Test the ones that are most in use by the customers. It has not been possible for Cisco to test all the operating systems available on the market, such as Linux or Mac OS. Although these operating systems have not been tested by Cisco, it is recommended that the customers provide feedback (cs-html@cisco.com) on any experiences with accessing CMS using an operating system that is not currently supported.

#### Q: My PC runs slowly when JavaScript starts up. Why is CMS slow?

A: The processing speed may be the cause of the delayed start up. Make sure that the PC has the proper minimum system requirements. Running with less memory can cause disk swapping. This has a severe effect on performance. Very large programs can require more RAM for adequate performance. In addition, if you have any virus protection software installed on the PC, you might need to modify some of its scanning options for downloaded files.

The initial loading of the Java applet may also be a result of slow bandwidth while the Java Plug-in is caching an applet during its first time of remote link access. The solution is to transfer onto a higher bandwidth link for faster performance. However, once you have cached the applet from a host once, this does not need to occur again.

#### Q: How do I return the switch back to factory default and completely delete the current configuration?

A: These steps show how to completely delete the current configuration and return the switch back to its factory default:

1. Issue the dir flash: command, as shown in this example:

```
Switch>en
Switch#dir flash:
Directory of flash:/
   2 -rwx
                       Mar 04 1993 23:52:00 system_env_vars
                 303
   3 -rwx
                 452 Mar 04 1993 01:39:07 lavout.text
   4 -rwx
                 2322 Mar 04 1993 01:37:50 config.text
   5
     -rwx
                 108
                       Mar 01 1993 03:01:43 info
   8 drwx
                  192
                       Mar 04 1993 23:51:50 c3550-i5q3l2-mz.121-9.EA1
                       Mar 04 1993 23:52:00
   9
      -rwx
                    0
                                           env_vars
```

16128000 bytes total (10941440 bytes free)

This shows you the contents of the Flash of the Catalyst 3550.

- 2. Delete all the files that end with a \*.text, \*.txt, or \*.dat extensions. These are user created files.
- 3. Reload, and if prompted, answer No to save configuration prompt.
- 4. Upon the next reboot, you are prompted to run the initial setup program. This is the factory default behavior.

#### Q: What is the difference between Guide/Expert mode and Wizards?

A: The Guide/Expert mode in CMS leads the user step-by-step through the configuration of advanced features, provides enhanced online help, and breaks down complex configurations into easy-to-understand steps. The Guide/Expert mode provides embedded help and instructions.

IP Routing	-* Ø Ø	P Routing		ា ខ្ម
Mices	≠ IP Routing	IP Routing: Choose Section		
Host Norse: Sherrip *	Default Residen IP 172-20.135-193			
KINP EKINP OSPI		The steps that follow being to independent sections: RIP_ICEP_EICEP_OSPE		
vallable Networks	TEP Enabled Networks			
0.0.0.0		In each section you enable the muting protocol	2 BP	
72.20.0.0		That corresponds to the section s name.		
	Auto Mp	To avoid seeing the steps in a section, uncheck	N 1089	
	de Famous	the check box.	i≷ EIGR₽	
	And the state		i osp∉	
Select All	Select All			
	Advanced			
	Manager II and I from a large	< Previous	Next > Finish Cancel	

Wizards are used to save time for network administrators. They eliminate human errors, and ensure that the configuration of the switch is optimized for applications such as video streaming or video conferencing, Voice over IP (VoIP), and Cisco Architecture for Voice, Video, and Integrated Data (AVVID). Wizards make it easy to configure a combination of sophisticated technologies such as Quality of Service (QoS) and Access Control Lists (ACLs) to support specific types of traffic and security. Wizards eliminate the need to know the intricacies of the technologies themselves. They are also fully compatible with each other so that users can take advantage of any wizard combination.

CMS Administration Cluster	evice Port VLAN Reports	View Window Help
st 19 Lee	Device Manager	Interaction mode: 🙎 Guide Expert
Eront Danol Mow	Host Name	-Kr¥ 🖂
	STP	Codebast 20607-24
A CALL COLOR	CGMP	
terme er in 2n da da	IGMP Snooping	14x 14x 14x 17x 19x 19x 29x 21x 22x 23x 34x 1x 24x
STREET CALLER ALL	802.1X	AAAAAAAA matamaar
ferritriser of Marketing	🙎 ACL	Catalyst 2950-24
	Security Wizard	
termine evit la 2a 2a 4a 3a	QoS 🔸	14r 15r 16r 17r 10r 19r 20r 21r 22r 27r 24r
Manager Carl and an an	AVVID Wizards	Voice
Finiture Server_Farm	IP Routing	Video Catalyst 3508G-XL
	IP Multicast Wizard	Data
and the second s	IP Multicast Routing	An Dente - To Dente
and the state of the state	🙎 Router Redundancy	an angly on angly on angly on the
Accounting_1st_Floo	Fallback Bridging	Catalyst 2950G-48
-312 <sup>11.0</sup>		

Q: What new features have been added to CMS?

A: Newly added features on CMS can be viewed through the Help menu under What's New?....

**Note:** Support for the **What's New?...** feature was introduced in the Cisco IOS Software Release 12.1(8)EA1 for Catalyst 3550 switches, Cisco IOS Software Release 12.1(6)EA2 for Catalyst 2950, and Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)WC3 for Catalyst 2900 XL/3500 XL.



#### Before You Call Cisco Technical Support

Before you call Cisco Technical Support , make sure you have read through this document and completed the actions suggested for your systems' problem.

Capture the output of these commands and document the results for better assistance with a Cisco Technical Support engineer:

• Capture the output of the dir flash: command from all of the affected switches.

- Capture the output of the dir flash:/html/\* command from all of the affected switches.
- Capture the output of the show version command from all of the affected switches.
- Capture the output of the show running-configuration command.
- Capture the output of the show interfaces command.
- If you run Cisco IOS Software Release 12.0(5)XU or later, then capture the output from the <u>Java console</u>.
- The output of additional commands may be necessary, based on the nature of the issue.

A clear network topology and dial-in or Telnet access can also help considerably in effective problem resolution.

#### **Cisco Support Community - Featured Conversations**

<u>Cisco Support Community</u> is a forum for you to ask and answer questions, share suggestions, and collaborate with your peers. Below are just some of the most recent and relevant conversations happening right now.

Want to see more? Join us by clicking here
Cluster Management Suite or Visual spremkumar 5 Replies 7 years, 2 months ago
Visual Switch Manager for Catalyst ge at maclaymurrayspens.co.uk 0 Replies 7 years, 8 months ago
Standards Compliance with Cisco UC yogan.patel 0 Replies 9 months, 1 week ago
cisco 3550 series & embedded Cisco larrys at dns.ie 2 Replies 7 years, 9 months ago
Visual Switch Manager Question twhack at wilberforce.edu 2 Replies 6 years, 10 months ago
using Cluster Management Suite jicarranza at eegsa.net 1 Reply 8 years, 7 months ago
[2950-24] Ports disappear from Cluster Freak NL 2 Replies 7 years, 4 months ago
New Switch Doesn't Show in Cluster tscislaw 4 Replies 7 years, 1 month ago
ASA 5550 Cluster Network Management m.langerreiter at linzag.at 2 Replies 1 year, 1 month ago
Cluster Management Suite question pablooramas 1 Reply 4 years, 10 months ago
Start A New Discussion Subscribe

#### **Related Information**

- Upgrading Software in Catalyst 2900 XL/3500 XL Switches Using the Command Line Interface
   (CLI)
- Catalyst 2900 XL and Catalyst 3500 XL Software Configuration Guide
- Catalyst 2950 Desktop Switch Software Configuration Guide
- Catalyst 3550 Multilayer Switch Software Configuration Guide
- LAN Product Support Pages
- LAN Switching Support Page
- Technical Support Cisco Systems

Updated: Nov 16, 2007

Document ID: 14977

Contacts | Feedback | Help | Site Map

© 1992-2010 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved. Terms & Conditions | Privacy Statement | Cookie Policy | Trademarks of Cisco Systems, Inc.